NATO PUBLIC DIPLOMACY DIVISION FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES

Version 3 January 2022

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

Table of Contents

I. HOW TO APPLY	2
Application: List of mandatory documents	2
How to fill in the Grant Application Form	
II. AFTER THE SELECTION	7
Confirmation Letter	7
Changes Post-Confirmation	7
III. REPORTING AFTER THE COMPLETION OF A PROJECT	7
IV. DETAILED FINANCIAL RULES AND REPORTING PROCEDURES	8
Financial Rules	8
Reporting Procedures	14
How to Prepare the Reports	14
Initial Assessment Report	14
Consolidated Final Report	15
V VISUAL ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF A NATO CONTRIBUTION	17

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

I. HOW TO APPLY

Application: List of mandatory documents

The Application for a grant must include the following documents:

1. Letter of Request:

- Dated and signed by the person responsible for the project;
- On an official letterhead with an official stamp of the organisation;
- Indication of the project objective (brief) and the financial sum requested;
- Indication of 50% advance payment requested;
- Inclusion of all bank details (name, address, IBAN and BIC/SWIFT. Note: The name of the grantee and the name of the bank account owner must be the same).

A scanned version of the original letter of request is accepted.

2. A structured outline for the applicant's activity (see the attachment)

- 2.1. **Summary**: a brief summary of the proposed activity (i.e. structure, timeline, etc.).
- 2.2. **Objectives**: an explanation of how the activity will contribute in the framework of NATO's current agenda and communication priorities.
- 2.3. **Audience insight**: an explanation of to whom the activity is aimed at. Please include number of audience targeted. Is the goal to change or influence their attitudes and behaviours to help achieve the objective? What are the barriers to change that the activity can help to address?
- 2.4. **Strategy**: an outline of the approach to be applied, covering proposition/messaging, channels, and partners/influencers. The expected media coverage, use of social media tools as a way to promote the project, and ways to publicise NATO support should also be considered.
- 2.5. Implementation: an outline of how the communications will be delivered and what tactics will be used. This should comprise a clear plan that allocates resources and sets out timescales (including an indicative timeline of milestones and key events in the framework of the activity.) Noting the involvement of any influencers or partner organisations who may increase event visibility or amplify communication efforts, is also recommended.
- 2.6. **Assessment**: Please state which metrics you will use to measure outputs and outcomes for the activity. In cooperation with NATO PDD, an online assessment survey will be designed to gather participants' feedback.
- 2.7. **Outputs**: what is delivered/what target audience is reached? (distribution, exposure, reach).
 - Deliverables
 - Audience reached
 - Expected coverage both online/offline, e.g. press clippings (articles, interviews, clips, etc. with links) and social media metrics (number of posts, views, reach, mentions, shares, engagement rate, etc.).
- 2.8. **Outcomes:** what is the aimed impact/result of your activity on the target audience (impact, influence, effects/attitude/behavioural change)?

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

- Quantifiable changes that occur because of the project e.g. result of behavioural (perception) change
- Actual outcome compared to desired outcome; have the goals been met?

Set specific targets and the timeframe in which they are to be achieved.

3. The completed Grant Application Form (see the attachment)

How to fill in the Grant Application Form

Checklist

This checklist is to help ensure that your grant application is complete.

Project information

Details of the organisation applying

Fill in all requested information about your organisation. **NATO regulations do not allow subsidies to individuals.**

Contact persons

Include the name of two contact persons (one main and one alternative). Note that the contact person(s) must represent the submitting project partner.

Type of project

Any public diplomacy project that fulfils the criteria outlined in Section 4 of this document.

Title of project

The title should reflect the content of the project and remain the same throughout the project.

Type of target audience(s)

If possible, specify the type of audience(s) your project aims to reach. E.g.: students, youth (specify age groups if possible), parliamentarians, government officials, media, NGOs/think tanks, academics, etc.

Estimated number of target audience to be reached

Please list an estimated total number of participants, be it in-person or online.

Format of project

Please specify whether it is an in-person, online or hybrid project.

• <u>Venue</u>

If the project does not take place online, specify the location of the event (address, city and country).

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

Date(s)/ Time frame of project

Specify the start date and end date of the project.

Consortium partners

If the application is made on behalf of a consortium, please list the other organisations that make up this consortium. Please note that the applicant must be the lead organisation on behalf of the Consortium and be legally and financially responsible as a single point of contact toward NATO. Invoices must be established to the name of the applicant.

Additional co-sponsoring institutions

Please indicate any other co-sponsors (including amount of co-sponsorship per institution), as well as own funds if applicable.

• Request for NATO speaker(s)

Provide names and titles of requested speakers from NATO to attend your event, if any.

Estimated total costs and budget requested from NATO

Please indicate the amount and currency. The amounts declared on the first page of the Application Form must be identical to the totals mentioned in the budget table (see template within the Application Form).

On a separate page within the Application Form, please include the budget breakdown list, broken down per budget categories, as per the financial regulations included in this document. All costs must be within the market price range for the type of service or product requested. A budget table template is included within the Application Form.

Please note the following typical levels of support

- Projects up to €10,000 are eligible for up to 100% sponsorship;
- Projects between €10,000 and €20,000 are eligible for up to €10,000 in sponsorship;
- Projects above €20,000 are eligible for up to 50% in sponsors

Budget table

- (a) Travel expenses for speakers: (Note: as NATO Staff Members must travel under NATO's budget, their travel costs cannot be included in this section. Travel/accommodation costs for staff members of the grantee are also excluded.)
 - Hotel: the estimated total cost equals the total number of nights multiplied by the nightly room rate.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

- Transport: This field includes speakers' transportation to and from the venue and all local transportation (flight, train, taxi, and bus or minivan rental).
- (b) Travel expenses participants:
 - Same principles as above (a) apply
- (c) Meals / Catering: this cannot exceed 25% of the final costs covered by NATO's co-sponsorship. This type of cost must be provided and invoiced by a third party. The estimated costs should be split into three categories:
 - Meals: please specify the number of meals and the estimated number of participants.
 - Coffee breaks: please specify the number of coffee breaks and the estimated number of participants.
 - Reception: please specify the number of receptions and the estimated number of participants.
- (d) Rentals: This type of cost must be provided and invoiced by a third party. All costs must be within the market price for the type of services requested. For the category 'other rentals' a description must be provided.
- (e) Linguistic services: This type of cost must be provided and invoiced by a third party. All costs must be within the market price for the type of service requested.
- (f) Administrative/staff costs: This field covers the expenses generated by the organisation of the event and directly supported by the grantee:
 Overhead of 20%: As explained in the financial rules, overhead of 20% of the final NATO grant can be included to cover all costs linked with administration of the project and other costs such as remunerations, honoraria, and fees. Please note that such costs are not eligible for inclusion in other categories.
- (h) Other: A description of the need must be provided. This service or product must be provided and invoiced by a third party. All costs must be within the market price for the type of service or product requested. For example:
 - Online activities: e.g. event page, related use of social media, provided and invoiced by a third party.
 - Moderator and speaker's fees: This covers services performed by recognised experts. NATO Officials and members of governments cannot receive fees for official representation. In addition, NATO will not reimburse moderator or speaker fees for members of the organisation in receipt of the grant.
 - Audio-visual Products and Services provided and invoiced by a third party.
 - Publicity / promotion provided and invoiced by a third party.
 - Any other costs must be listed, along with a full description.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS
APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES
Version 3 January 2022

Note: When it is mentioned that the service must be provided and invoiced by a third party, this means a legal, commercial relationship must exist between the applicant and the supplier. As to what can be considered as an official invoice, please refer to paragraph 14 in this document under IV. Detailed Financial Rules and Reporting Procedures.

For further details as well as level of support refer to the financial rules and procedures in this document.

Send your application, along with all the necessary supporting documentation, by email to our generic mailbox mailbox.publicdiplomacyinformation@hq.nato.int.

<u>Projects originating in Ukraine should be sent to:</u> projects@nidc-ukraine.hq.nato.int

PLEASE NOTE THAT ONLY COMPLETE APPLICATIONS, WHICH INCLUDE ALL MANDATORY SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS, WILL BE CONSIDERED.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS
APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES
Version 3 January 2022

II. AFTER THE SELECTION

Confirmation Letter

- Should an application be approved by NATO, a confirmation letter is issued by NATO PDD advising the partner organization of the decision and detailing the conditions of the financial support. Additional or adapted procedures, terms, and conditions may be set out in the confirmation letter.
- 2. This confirmation letter must be countersigned by the partner organization and returned to PDD, within 14 days to indicate acceptance of the grant.
- 3. The countersigned confirmation letter, its appendices and documents included in it by reference, together with the financial procedures, form the contract between NATO on the one side and, on the other, the partner organization to whom the financial support is formally made.

Changes Post-Confirmation

4. No changes to the dates and/or title and/or object and/or approved budget of NATO subsidized projects, events or activities activity may take place without the express authorization of NATO. If the activity is postponed to another fiscal year, the recipient will be requested to reimburse the advance paid. A new request can be submitted for the following budget year and assessed in line with evolving priorities.

III. REPORTING AFTER THE COMPLETION OF A PROJECT

- 5. Together with NATO (co)sponsorship comes also the obligation for the organiser to conduct post-event assessment. The assessment report must be aligned with the initial approved content structure and budget and it has two phases:
 - The Initial Assessment Report Form must be submitted to the NATO Public Diplomacy Division electronically no more than two (2) weeks following the event/completion of the project;
 - The Consolidated Final Report (Final Report Form, Detailed Budget Table Excel File, all supporting documents of the expenses) must be submitted to the NATO Public Diplomacy Division no more than two (2) months following the event/completion of the project, electronically in a single editable PDF file. The Detailed Budget Table must be provided in editable Excel format.
- 6. The payment of the balance amount will be based on the evaluation of the Consolidated Final Report. When reporting, the beneficiary must certify that:
 - the information provided is full, reliable and true;
 - the costs declared are eligible;
 - the costs can be substantiated by adequate records and supporting documentation that will be produced upon request and attached to the initial and final report.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

IV. <u>DETAILED FINANCIAL RULES AND REPORTING PROCEDURES</u>

Financial Rules

Level of support

- Projects up to €10,000 are eligible for up to 100% sponsorship;
- Projects between €10,000 and €20,000 are eligible for up to €10,000 in sponsorship;
- Projects above €20,000 are eligible for up to 50% in sponsorship.

If the final cost of a given project is lower than initially estimated, the NATO sponsorship, including ceilings (max. 25% of the grant for meals and 20% for overhead) will be reduced accordingly.

- 7. Eligible Expenses. Only the expenses directly related to the activity and outcome, but only where such expenses are clearly detailed in the application and accepted by NATO and invoiced by third parties can be accepted for reimbursement by NATO such as:
 - Interpretation and translation services;
 - Interpretation equipment rental;
 - Production and distribution of programmes/invitations, conference packages and post-activity proceedings;
 - Costs associated with ensuring the promotion and visibility of the activity, but only where such expenses are clearly detailed, e.g. photography, production costs (video or internet), e-material costs, broadcasting costs;
 - Transportation by the most direct and less costly route to and from the subsidized activity, including local transportation, economy class airfares only for speakers/participants;
 - Hotel accommodation only for speakers/participants;
 - Meals, coffee breaks, and receptions, when directly linked to the activity, and up to a maximum of 25% of the total NATO-approved budget;
 - Rental of event facilities;
 - Equipment rental;
 - Online activity services and advertisement;
 - Multimedia products: production costs implemented by a third party (e.g., printing, layout, proofreading, production costs, video editing, etc.).
 Note: the production of electronic publications is given priority over hardcopy publications.
- 8. Administrative and staff costs will be collectively limited to a maximum of 20% of the total NATO grant.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

9. In-kind contribution

In exceptional circumstances, in-kind contributions, in the calculation of the total effort for a sponsored project, can be taken into account if they meet **all** the following criteria:

- the in-kind contributions are mentioned and specified as such in the application form;
- the in-kind contributions are tangible and are quantified (e.g. usage of a conference room free of charge, catering offered, interpretation equipment installed and operated free of charge);
- the in-kind contributions are not directly or indirectly related to manpower, honoraria or copyright;
- the in-kind contributions are documented and submitted as part of the final report (e.g. a letter from the donor certifying their contributions).

It is important to note that in-kind contributions can be considered as part of the overall effort of an event only and in no circumstances will such contributions be covered or reimbursed by any NATO subsidy.

- 10. **Ineligible Expenses** are those which do not fall within the aforementioned Eligible Expenses. More specifically, and without limitation to the above, the following are Ineligible Expenses:
 - Direct and indirect costs already reimbursed or to be reimbursed under other NATO grants or contracts;
 - Costs incurred before the grant application was submitted or before the specific reference date for the eligibility of costs that might be specified by NATO;
 - Costs that are not properly documented;
 - Luxury goods and gifts;
 - Financial carrying charges;
 - Membership fees;
 - Fixed operating costs of the NGO in question, such as phone, internet, electricity, heating, gas, office rent nor other office support related expenses;
 - Immunizations and other medical expenses for project personnel, unless detailed in the application and approved by NATO; and
 - Costs related to non-authorized accompanying family members or other non-project related personnel.
- 11. Unless otherwise specified in the terms and conditions of the grant, payment of subsidies by NATO will be made in two parts of which the first payment is an advance of 50% and the balance payment is made in accordance with point 14. To facilitate payment, organizations must provide, in writing, complete address and account number (including IBAN, SWIFT/SIC) of the organization's receiving bank at the time when the written budget is submitted. Grantees will bear the cost of any bank refunds and additional transfers that may be required as a consequence of the provision of incorrect or incomplete bank account information.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

- 12. Payments will be made to the grant recipient's bank account by bank transfer. Grant funds will not be transferred to private or personal bank accounts, unless otherwise authorized by the NATO Office of Financial Control (OFC) in exceptional and fully justified cases. Grantees will bear any fees charged by their banks for the receipt of grant funds.
- 13. In cases where adjustments to amounts in certain budget categories become necessary, a request for adjustment should be submitted to NATO as soon as possible, preferably before the start of the event. It is not possible to request an increase in the overall sponsorship amount.
- 14. The first payment will be made within 15 days following initial authorization by NATO authorities. Allocation of the second payment will be made only upon receipt by NATO of acceptable evidence of expenditures in line with the budget previously approved by the Public Diplomacy Division. The grantee must send the Final Report (content assessment and the financial evidence) digitally via email/file sharing service. The content assessment is the quantitative and qualitative analysis of the project and it must be presented and described according to the Final Report Form. Financial evidence accompanies the Budget Table and it is normally shown by original paid invoices, airline ticket invoices, hotel receipts, etc. which demonstrate that expenditures have been incurred and payments made. When original invoices are unavailable, a copy of the original invoices certified and signed by the organization's financial officer or equivalent will be accepted. "Pro forma" bills, bank statements and copies of payment orders, which show no detail or breakdown of costs, will not be accepted. The same applies to lists of expenses without corresponding bills. Please note that daily allowances or "per diem" will not be covered by NATO.

The grantee must provide official invoices with proof of payment. Invoice should mention: date of issue, unique sequential invoice number, applicant's VAT number and full name and address (if the applicant is liable for the tax on the transaction, if exempted please mention appropriated legislation), supplier's VAT number, full name & address (if the supplier is liable for the tax on the transaction, if exempted please mention appropriated legislation), description of quantity and type of goods or services supplied, date of transaction or payment (if different from invoice date), VAT rate and amount, total amount payable, description of quantity and type of goods or services supplied.

The proof of payment needs to be provided by bank statement, Point of Sale receipt.

15. All receipts should be submitted in English or French, the two official NATO languages. Originals in any other language must have all key components translated into English or French by the sending organization before processing of payment can begin. Additionally, a cost summary per budget item category must be provided so that declared costs can be easily identified and verified. NATO reserves the right to request any additional documents if judged necessary. The final report budget must be aligned with the initial approved budget as provided by NATO with the confirmation letter. All evidence (invoices, contracts, travel tickets, etc.) must be referenced and this reference number must be stated in the first column of the final report budget table.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

- 16. Failure of a recipient to submit the content report and invoices or other credible evidence of the budgeted expenditures, within a reasonable period after the end of the activity (the initial assessment report must be sent after two weeks and the final report no later than two months after the end of the approved project, event or activity), may lead to cancellation of payment of the second half of the subsidy. It may also jeopardize any future NATO support of the recipient's activities. If, after receiving the first half of the NATO subsidy, the recipient fails to carry out the public diplomacy project, event or activity on the dates specified in the grant documentation or to duly justify the approved expenses, the recipient must reimburse the stated subsidy.
- 17. Payment of a grant is discretionary and shall be the limit of NATO's financial liability to the recipient in respect of the project, event or activity identified in the grant application form or confirmation letter. NATO accepts no liability for any consequences, whether direct or indirect, that may come about from the use of the grant or from variation, withdrawal, withholding or suspension of the grant.
- 18. The recipient shall at all times hold harmless NATO, its agents, representatives and employees from any and all suits, claims, charges and expenses which arise from any acts or omissions of the recipient, its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors.
- 19. NATO reserves the right to withhold any or all of the grant, or require part or full repayment of any grant already paid, if at the time of making the application or at any time prior to the start of the project, event or activity, the grant recipient:
 - a) has ceased or ceases its operations;
 - b) is in or goes into liquidation, administration, receivership, bankruptcy or any equivalent procedures in any jurisdiction to which it is subject;
 - c) is or becomes the subject of a proposal for a winding up order or any other insolvency procedure including individual voluntary arrangement and company voluntary arrangement; or
 - d) is or becomes indebted to NATO.
 - e) if after the payment of the balance (in particular, after checks, reviews, audits or investigations the PDD rejects costs or reduces the grant, it will calculate the 'revised final grant amount'.

This amount is calculated by the PDD on the basis of the findings, as follows:

- in case of rejection of costs: by applying the reimbursement rate to the revised eligible costs approved by the PDD:
- in case of reduction of the grant: in proportion to the seriousness of its breach of obligations
- f) In case of rejection of costs and reduction of the grant, the revised final grant amount will be the lower of the two amounts above.
- 20. NATO also reserves the right to vary or withhold any or all of the grant, and/or require part or full repayment of any grant already paid, if:

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

- a) the recipient fails to comply with the terms and conditions specified in this document, grant application form and grant confirmation letter;
- b) the recipient provides any materially misleading, false or inaccurate information on the grant application and justification documents;
- the recipient causes embarrassment or takes any action which unfairly brings or is likely to unfairly bring NATO's name or reputation and/or NATO into disrepute;
- d) the recipient engages in tax evasion or aggressive tax avoidance, fraud, corruption or collusive practices; or
- e) the recipient commits or committed an act prohibited by the NATO regulations.
- 21. If any of the circumstances set out in the paragraph above arise, the recipient may also be excluded from future involvement in the Public Diplomacy Division financial assistance programmes and/or any other grant scheme operated by NATO.
- 22. Where NATO requires any part or the entire grant to be repaid in accordance with these rules, the recipient shall repay this amount no later than 30 days of the date it received the demand for repayment. If the recipient fails to repay the grant within 30 days of a demand for repayment, the sum will be recoverable summarily as a civil debt.
- 23. The recipient must have a sound administration and audit process, including internal financial controls to safeguard against fraud and theft. All cases of fraud or theft (whether proven or suspected) connected with a NATO grant or NATO funded activity must be notified to NATO as soon as they are identified and the recipient shall:
 - a) explain to NATO what steps are being taken to investigate the irregularity;
 - b) keep NATO informed about the progress of such investigation; and
 - c) provide any information requested by NATO in relation to any irregularity notified to it.
- 24. The recipient must have and will keep in place adequate procedures to manage and monitor any actual or perceived bias or conflicts of interest. Neither the recipient nor its personnel shall engage in any personal, business or professional activity which conflicts or could conflict with any of their obligations in relation to a NATO grant or funded activity.
- 25. The recipient shall comply at all times with its obligations under data protection legislation. On request, the recipient shall provide NATO with all such relevant documents and information relating to the recipient's data protection policies and procedures as NATO may reasonably require.
- 26. The recipient shall provide NATO with all reasonable assistance and cooperation in relation to any information, explanations and documents as it may require from time to time, so that it may establish if the recipient has used the grant in accordance with the terms and conditions of the grant and applicable

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

regulations. The recipient shall provide the NATO with any information requested pursuant to this clause within ten (10) working days of its request.

- 27. The recipient shall retain all invoices, receipts, accounting records and any other documentation (including but not limited to correspondence) relating to amounts paid on NATO eligible costs for a period of five (5) years from the fiscal year in which the recipient received the grant. If there are on-going checks, reviews, audits, investigations, litigation or other pursuits of claims under the Agreement the beneficiary must keep the records and other supporting documentation until the end of these procedures.

 The beneficiary must keep the original documents. The Agency may accept
 - The beneficiary must keep the original documents. The Agency may accept non-original documents if it considers that they offer a comparable level of assurance.
- 28. The recipient shall permit any person authorized by NATO reasonable access during the period for the retention of records set out in the paragraph above, subject to reasonable notice, to its personnel and records for the purposes of monitoring the recipient's fulfilment of its obligations under these rules.
- 29. The NATO name or logo cannot be used by the recipient without the express, written consent of NATO. The Program Official/Project Officer identified in the confirmation letter can assist with facilitating such a request. It is the responsibility of the recipient to request consent for use of the name or logo in sufficient detail to ensure a complete depiction and disclosure of all uses of NATO name or logo. In all cases for utilization of NATO name or logo, the recipient must ensure written consent is received.
- 30. The recipient will notify NATO as soon as reasonably practicable of any actual or potential failure to comply with any of its obligations under these rules.
- 31. The recipient will not transfer, assign, novate or otherwise dispose of the whole or any part of its rights and obligations under a NATO grant to another organisation or individual without NATO's prior approval.
- 32. By accepting a NATO grant, the recipient confirms that it has been notified by NATO prior to the grant acceptance to the effect that NATO, including its personnel, assets, and facilities, enjoys immunity from jurisdiction and execution in all member states of the Alliance.
- 33. Right to carry out reviews and audits

NATO may carry out audits directly (using its own staff) or indirectly (using external persons or bodies appointed to do so). It will inform the beneficiary of the identity of the external persons or bodies.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

Reporting Procedures

How to Prepare the Reports

As NATO's Public Diplomacy Division requires timely feedback from grantees for reporting purposes, grantees are requested to provide this feedback in two stages: an initial assessment report and the final report. Further guidance is below.

Initial Assessment Report

No later than two weeks after the completion of the project, the organisers of the project will fill in the **Initial Assessment Report Form**, evaluating the effects and results of the activity and documenting the efforts taken to promote NATO, including NATO visuals. This report can be sent by email in Word format. This report would include:

• Project Objectives:

- o Provide a short summary of the project/event concluded.
- o What audience(s) did your project target?
- What was the initial goal of the event and the desired outcomes (e.g. impact, perception change or change in behaviour, advocacy, etc.)?

Project Outputs:

- Deliverables. List any tangible products/services/publications developed as a result of the event and attach them to your report
- Demographics of attendees. Also attach final list of participants.
- Online viewership and metrics
- Media and digital coverage, press clippings (give links to named online media outlets; name print publication; name TV/radio channels + potential reach - if applicable)

Project Outcomes:

- Please describe how the event delivered against the goal of the project and list the actual outcomes measured against the desired outcomes (e.g. impact, perception change or change in behaviour, advocacy, etc. Provide a comparative perspective of the initial goal versus actual outcome.)
- Survey results. Make sure the participants fill in the survey provided, reach out to PDD for the survey results and attach them to this report before submitting it.
- List any other known information or content to help NATO understand the impact of your project/event such as: key messages used; placements of NATO branding; unanticipated outcomes.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

Please also provide the final list of participants and final programme and a couple of quality photos/videos in high resolution, or screenshots of social media posts where applicable.

For longer-term projects, interim assessment reports may be required. Details should be agreed with the NATO Officer responsible for the project.

Consolidated Final Report

No later than two months after the completion of the project, the organisers will submit a <u>final report in one PDF file</u>. Please note that incomplete final reports will not be accepted and may cause unnecessary delays in project liquidation. This report must include:

Part A (Finance)

- The Final Report Form, including the Budget Table:
 - Both the Financial Report and annexes submitted **must fully correspond with the budget categories previously** reviewed and **approved by NATO**'s Public Diplomacy Division. All documents must contain **reference numbers** and must be grouped according to the categories in the report. Please indicate these reference numbers in the left column of the budget table. In addition, all annexes to the financial report must be presented in the same order as indicated in that report and the approved budget.
- Itemized invoices:
 - Invoices must clearly identify the elements specified in paragraph 14 under Financial Rules and Reporting Procedures. All receipts/invoices can be presented on photocopied pages as long as they are numbered and a clear reference is made to the listing presented in the final report. Multiple receipts/invoices can be photocopied on the same page, so long as they are legible and labelled as outlined above. Dates on invoices/receipts must correspond to date of event.
- Detailed Budget Table :
 - The <u>Excel Detailed Budget Table</u> provided must be properly filled-in to reflect a detailed budget breakdown of the expenses from the report's budget table form and to capture the references of the financial evidences attached. Feel free to edit the table to fit your reporting needs and add as many rows as possible, to reflect all the financial evidences attached. The table must be sent in editable format together with the Final Report Form and the Itemised Invoices.
- Bank Information: A signed and dated document certifying current bank details.
- <u>Translation of documents</u>. In the event that the originals are not in French or English, all essential elements must be translated.
- When applicable, the exchange rate, using the date of the event, must be provided from an official source (e.g. National Bank).

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES Version 3 January 2022

Part B (Project Implementation and Assessment)

- An updated and consolidated version of the information already provided in the initial assessment report, see questions related to the assessment of the project in the Final Report Form;
- A consolidated report of the survey results;
- Final programme of the event;
- The final list of participants who attended the event. Add also a list of participants for all meals and accommodation for which NATO provides financial assistance (if applicable);
- Translation of documents (if applicable);
- If needed, please submit any additional comments.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS
APPLICATION GUIDELINES AND FINANCIAL AND REPORTING PROCEDURES
Version 3 January 2022

V. <u>VISUAL ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF A NATO CONTRIBUTION</u>



The recipient of NATO's subvention will acknowledge it during the event, as well as in the conference proceedings. The aim of the visual acknowledgement of a NATO contribution is to ensure that NATO's role in supporting the event or project is publicly recognized.

Under no circumstances should the recipient of a (co)sponsorship project use the NATO logo in such a way as to lead audiences to perceive the respective external event or publication as one of NATO's official activities.

The use of the NATO logo is governed by <u>NATO's Brand Identity Manual</u>. As a general rule, the visual recognition of the NATO contribution to publications and conference material produced by third parties consists of the NATO logo, followed by an acknowledgment sentence (e.g. "This project is (co)sponsored by the North Atlantic Treaty Organization"). Please note that the Brand Identity Manual is regularly updated.

For any questions regarding the visual acknowledgment of the NATO contribution and the correct usage of the NATO logo, please contact the Programme Officer/Programme Assistant in charge of your grant application.